
Meeting of:  Cabinet
Date: Tuesday, 26th February, 2019
Time: 6.00 pm.
Venue: Hollingworth - (Room 108BC) - Number One 

Riverside
 
This agenda gives notice of items to be considered in private as required by
Regulations 5 (4) and (5) of The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements)
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012.

Item 
No.

AGENDA Page No

1.  APOLOGIES 

To receive any apologies for absence. 

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary, personal 
or personal and prejudicial interests they may have and the nature of 
those interests relating to items on this agenda and/or indicate if S106 
of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 applies to them.    

3.  URGENT ITEMS OF BUSINESS 

To determine whether there are any additional items of business 
which, by reason of special circumstances, the Chair decides should 
be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency. 

4.  ITEMS FOR EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS 

To determine any items on the agenda, if any, where the public are to 
be excluded from the meeting. 

5.  MINUTES 3 - 11

To consider the Minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held 12th 
February 2019 

6.  THE NEED FOR EXTRA PRIMARY SCHOOL PLACES 2019 - 2023 12 - 28

To consider proposals for additional Primary School Places at the 
Borough’s Schools 

7.  SECONDARY SCHOOL PLACES 2019 AND 2020 INTAKE 29 - 33

Public Document Pack



To consider proposals for additional Year 7 school places in 2019 and 
2020. 

8.  INTRODUCTION OF FEES FOR RESIDENTS PARKING PERMITS 34 - 45

To consider proposals to introduce fees for resident parking permits. 

9.  EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

To consider that the press and public be excluded from the remaining 
part of the meeting pursuant to Section 100(A)4 of the Local 
Government Act 1972 on the grounds that discussions may involve the 
likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in the provisions of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 and public 
interest would not be served in publishing the information.  

10.  CHARGE A NUMBER OF SCHOOLS FOR THE SCHOOL 
CROSSING PATROL SERVICE 

46 - 67

To consider proposed changes to the School Crossing Patrol Service 

11.  STREET LIGHTING ENERGY CONTRACT 68 - 91

To review the Borough’s Street Lighting Energy Contract 

Cabinet Members 2018/19:
Councillor Iftikhar Ahmed
Councillor Daalat Ali
Councillor Blundell
Councillor Brett (Chair)
Councillor Neil Emmott
Councillor Emsley
Councillor Heakin
Councillor O’Rourke
Councillor Rowbotham
 
For more information about this meeting, please contact: 
Alison James
Governance and Committee Services
Floor 2, Number One Riverside,
Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU

Telephone: 01706 924711
e-mail: Alison.james@rochdale.gov.uk 

mailto:Alison.james@rochdale.gov.uk


CABINET

MINUTES OF MEETING
Tuesday, 12th February 2019

PRESENT:  Councillor Brett (in the Chair); Councillors Iftikhar Ahmed, Neil 
Emmott, Emsley, Heakin, O’Rourke, Robinson (substituting for Councillor 
Daalat Ali) and Rowbotham.

OFFICERS: S. Rumbelow (Chief Executive), M. Widdup (Director of 
Neighbourhoods), G. Hopper (Director of Children’s Services), V. Bradshaw 
(Chief Finance Officer), T. Harrison (Assistant Director Adult Care), 
C. Wolfenden, J. Hollamby (Neighbourhoods Directorate) and P. Thompson 
(Resources Directorate).

ALSO IN ATTENDANCE: Councillor Dearnley and one member of the public.

APOLOGIES
98 Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Daalat Ali and 
Blundell.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
99 There were no declarations of interests.

MINUTES
100 Resolved:

That the minutes of the meeting of Cabinet held on 28th January 2019 be 
approved and signed by the Chair as a correct record.

THE CHARTER AGAINST MODERN SLAVERY
101 The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Neighbourhoods, the 
purpose of which was: to familiarise Members with the Modern Slavery 
Charter and its requirements; to authorise the implementation of the Charter in 
Rochdale; and summarised the activities which the Council had already taken 
and forthcoming actions that would be adopted to fulfil the requirements 
imposed under the Charter.

Alternatives considered:
The Council was not obligated to implement the Charter and could continue to 
procure services and supplies as it has done previously without due regard to 
the requirements and ambitions of the Charter or the Modern Slavery Act 
2015.

Resolved:
1. The Cabinet notes the implementation of the actions taken by the 

Council to ensure compliance with the requirements of the Modern 
Slavery Charter.

2. The Cabinet authorises the implementation of the Charter. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 5



Reasons for the decision:
The Modern Slavery Act 2015 (The Act) came into force on 26th March 2015. 
It was designed to tackle slavery, servitude, forced, or compulsory labour, 
human trafficking and exploitation (including sexual exploitation). Modern 
Slavery affects foreign nationals, but many of those exploited are from the 
United Kingdom and exploited within this country. In 2016 the third largest 
victim group came from the United Kingdom. 

By virtue of Section 54 of the Modern Slavery Act, businesses with an annual 
turnover of £36m or more are compelled to be more transparent in their 
dealings and accountable for any slavery and human trafficking within their 
business and their supply chain(s). 

Modern Slavery is a priority topic for Greater Manchester Police, highlighted in 
the Police and Crime Plan for Greater Manchester. It was noted that Greater 
Manchester Police have achieved the highest number of modern slavery 
prosecutions in the United Kingdom.  .
Eligible for Call-in: Yes

COUNCIL TAX DISCOUNT FOR SPECIAL CONSTABLES
102 The Cabinet considered a report of the Chief Finance Officer seeking 
approval to provide a 50% discount from the payment of Council Tax to 
Special Constables who live and serve in the Borough of Rochdale.

Alternatives considered:
None

Resolved:
1. The proposal to provide a 50% discount to Special Constables who 
live and serve in the Borough from the payment of Council Tax be approved
2. The creation of a Section 13A (Local Government Finance Act 
1992) policy and procedure to include the discount above, be approved.

Reasons for the decision:
The Special Constabulary consists of volunteer officers, who give up their 
spare time to assist with the policing of Greater Manchester and increase the 
effectiveness of local police initiatives. Special Constables are considered to 
be a vital part of the police service, helping to prevent crime and interacting 
with the diverse communities they serve. Greater Manchester Police are fully 
supportive of introducing this Special Constable council tax discount.
Eligible for Call-in: No

2019/20 DISCRETIONARY BUSINESS RATE RELIEF POLICY
103 The Cabinet considered a report of the Chief Finance Officer 
highlighting that the Council’s Discretionary Business Rate Relief Policy 
should be amended for 2019/20 due to a change announced in the 2018 
budget and to end changes that had been introduced in the 2016 and 2017 
budgets. The Cabinet was also being asked to consider a proposal to revise 
the Policy to raise additional business rate income. A draft 2019/20 Policy 
document was appended to the report, for Member’s assistance.

Page 4



Alternatives considered:
The recommended changes to the Discretionary Business Rate Relief Policy 
had been determined by the Government and the Council was therefore 
directed to implement, thus no alternatives were considered.

Several alternatives to reducing the rateable value limit were considered, but 
discounted due to creating excessive administrative burdens and a lack of 
qualification clarity to potential claimants. The Policy could remain at present. 
The outcome being that approximately £66,000 of business rate income would 
continue to be lost.

Resolved:
1. The Cabinet approves the ending of Pub Relief with effect from 31st 

March 2019.
2. The Cabinet approves the extension of the £1,500 business rate 

discount for local newspapers’ office space for 2019/20.
3. The Cabinet approves the introduction of Retail Relief with effect from 

1st April 2019. 
4. The Cabinet approves relief of £600 to qualifying businesses that had 

experienced a large increase in their rateable value following a 2017 
revaluation, the Cabinet further notes that this scheme was introduced 
by the Government in the 2016 budget for a period of four years from 
April 2017 and that the funding allocated by Government for 2019/20 
was £52,000.

5. The Cabinet recommends that the Council, at its meeting on 27th 
February 2019, revise the authority’s policy to raise additional business 
rates income, noting that the recommendation was to reduce the 
maximum rateable value limit to £19,999, above which relief will not be 
granted and the Council is asked to further note that this change will 
raise additional business rate income of approximately £66,000 per 
annum.

Reasons for the decisions:
The powers for granting discretionary rate relief by Councils were provided in 
Sections 44a, 47 and 49 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 which 
had been amended by the Localism Act 2011 to incorporate wider powers to 
grant relief under local discretion. The role of local authorities in the business 
rate system in the past had been to administer the system prescribed by 
Central Government.

The recommended changes to the Policy had been determined by the 
Government and announced in the 2016, 2017 and 2018 budgets, but had to 
be administered by the Local Authority using discretionary powers.

The budget position of the Council required either a reduction in expenditure 
or an increase in income. Further reducing the maximum rateable value in the 
Policy for charitable and not-for-profit businesses would raise approximately 
£66,000 of additional business rate income from the financial year 2020/21 
onwards.

Page 5



If the Policy was to be changed, businesses that have already received relief 
with a rateable value in excess of the proposed limit must receive 12 months’ 
notice of change, so that relief would only be withdrawn from 1st April 2020. 
New relief claims received after 1st April 2019, would be subjected to the 
revised Policy.
Eligible for Call-in: No

TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 2019/20
104 The Cabinet considered a report of the Chief Finance Officer seeking 
approval from the Council for the Borough’s Treasury Management Strategy 
2019/2020. The main objectives of the Treasury Management Strategy are: to 
ensure that borrowing in the long term was undertaken for capital purposes; 
that borrowing plans are affordable and achieve best value; that total debt 
remains within the Council’s authorised limit and prudential indicators; that 
risks are identified and controlled; and that cash flows are managed to ensure 
that the Council can meet its financial obligations.

Alternatives considered:
It was reported that there were no feasible alternatives – all of the proposals 
are in accordance with the revised CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury 
Management, which had been formally adopted by the Council, and with 
Government guidance regarding the Treasury Management Strategy.

Resolved:
The Annual Treasury Management Strategy for 2019/2020 be recommended to 
Council for approval, at its meeting on 27th February 2019, with particular 
reference to:
a. The objectives of treasury management (as outlined in section 2 and 
Appendix A of the submitted report).
b. The forecasted capital financing/borrowing requirement (as detailed at 
section 3.1.1 (table 2) of the submitted report).
c. The Operational Boundary and Authorised Limit for debt (detailed in 
s e c t i o n  3 . 1 . 3  o f  t h e  s u b m i t t e d  r e p o r t )  
d. Delegated authority is granted to the Council’s Chief Finance Officer to 
approve any breaches in these boundaries where it would be advantageous to 
the Council (detailed at paragraph 3.1.3 of the submitted report).
e. The Council’s criteria for assessing the creditworthiness of 
counterparties for investments (as detailed in section 3.2.1 of the submitted 
report) - with an emphasis on security of capital over return.
f. The additional Prudential and Treasury Indicators (identified in section 
3.4 of the submitted report).
g. The Minimum Revenue Provision Policy (contained in section 3.5 of the 
submitted report).
h. If significant changes to financial institutions’ ratings occur as a result of 
global industry changes to the ratings system (further to paragraph 3.2.1 of 
the submitted report), delegated approval be granted to the Council’s Chief 
Finance Officer to temporarily suspend the Authority’s own creditworthiness 
criteria in favour of the modelling approach adopted by the Council’s financial 
advisors.

Page 6



i. Include Pooled Property Funds as an Investment option (as outlined at 
paragraph 3.2.6 of the submitted report).

Reasons for the decision:
The report w a s  produced to gain t h e  C a b i n e t ’ s  a p p r o v a l  o f  
t h e  Treasury Management Strategy, prior to submission to the Budget 
Council meeting on 27th February 2019 and to ensure that t h e  Cabinet’s 
Members were informed of and ensured adherence to the requirements of the 
Prudential Framework.
Eligible for Call-in: No

CAPITAL INVESTMENT AND DISPOSAL STRATEGY 2019- 2022
105 The Cabinet considered a report of the Chief Finance Officer that was 
seeking approval for the 2019/20 Capital Investment and Disposal Strategy 
(‘The Strategy’) as set out at Appendix 1 of the submitted report, outlining how 
the Council will meet the requirements of the relevant legislation, codes of 
practice and guidance that form the Prudential Framework, and MHCLG 
Guidance on Local Authority Investments.

The Strategy is the Council’s policy for ensuring that the following outcomes 
are met:

i) Providing an overview of the Council’s plans for capital 
investments/disposals, and asset management planning.

ii) Setting out the governance process for approval and monitoring of 
capital expenditure, and any related long-term liabilities.

iii) Showing how the Council’s planned capital expenditure will be funded 
within the context of relevant funding limits, how any external debt will 
be repaid, and what the associated costs are.

iv) Setting out the Council’s approach to commercial activities including 
due diligence, risk appetite and proportionality in respect of the 
Council’s overall resources.

v) Summarising the knowledge and skills available to the Council, and 
whether these are considered to be commensurate with its risk 
appetite.

The Strategy is intended to be a high level overview of how the Council’s 
capital expenditure, capital financing and treasury management activity 
contributing to the provision of services.  The Strategy provides an overview of 
how risks are managed, and what the implications are for future financial 
sustainability.  The purpose of the Strategy is to set out how the Council takes 
capital expenditure and investment decisions in line with service objectives 
and properly takes account of stewardship, value for money, prudence, 
sustainability and affordability.

Alternatives considered:
There are no feasible alternatives – all of the proposals are in accordance 
with revised CIPFA Prudential Code that had been formally adopted by the 
Council and with Government guidance regarding Local Authority 
Investments.

Page 7



Resolved:
1. That the Council at its meeting on 27th February 2019 be 
recommended to approve the Annual Capital Investment and Disposal 
Strategy, 2019/20, with particular reference to:
i) The objectives of the Strategy (detailed in section 2 and Appendix A of 
the submitted report).
ii) The approach to and governance arrangement around commercial 
property investment (contained in section 5 of the submitted report).
iii) The Council’s risk appetite and quantitative indicators (set out in section 
6.3 of the submitted report), including limits on investment in terms of the 
proportion of debt and income relating to capital investments compared to net 
service expenditure.
2. The Cabinet notes the report of the Chief Finance Officer in terms of the 
affordability and risks associated with the Capital Investment and Disposal 
Strategy (as set out in paragraph 5.2 of the submitted report).
Eligible for Call-in: No

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2019/20 TO 2023/24
106 The Cabinet considered a report of the Chief Finance Officer which 
presented the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS). The aim of 
the MTFS is to provide a robust, consistent and sustainable approach to 
establishing and maintaining a stable and prudent financial basis on which 
improvement and transformation of the Council’s services progress. The 
MTFS is a key strategic part of the plan of the Council setting out its proposed 
detailed spending plans for the next two years and making forecasts for future 
years, based on current information. 

The Cabinet was informed that the budgetary proposals contained in the 
MTFS had been widely consulted upon. The MTFS was presented: to the 
Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee; for further consideration at this 
Cabinet meeting and for determination at the Budget Council meeting on 27th 
February 2019.

Alternatives considered:
The Council is legally obliged to set a balanced revenue budget. The budget 
setting process is complex and is required to be undertaken in a planned way. 
Whilst budgets are prepared in accordance with the approved guidelines a 
number of alternative options relating to savings proposals and budget 
pressures are considered as part of the overall budget setting process.

Resolved:
That the Council, at its meeting on 27th February 2019, be recommended to 
approve the Medium Term Financial Strategy.

Reasons for the recommendation:
The Cabinet is required to recommend a balanced Revenue Budget and 
Capital Programme for 2019/2020 to the Budget Council meeting on 27th 
February 2019. The Council is required to set a balanced budget for 
2019/2020 by no later than 10th March 2019. The Medium Term Financial 
Strategy therefore provides a key part of the budget setting process. 

Page 8



Eligible for Call-in: No

BUDGET 2019/20 - 2021/22 - LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2003 
REQUIREMENTS
107 The Cabinet considered a report of the Chief Finance Officer relating to 
statutory requirements under the Local Government Act 2003. It is a legal 
requirement for this report to be presented to the Budget Council meeting for 
consideration immediately prior to setting the Budget and Council Tax. The 
recommendations contained in the report aimed to ensure that the Council 
was aware of the opinion of the Chief Finance Officer regarding the 
robustness of the budget as proposed and the adequacy of general balances 
and reserves.

The Chief Finance Officer advised that in giving a positive opinion on the 
robustness of the estimate process reliance had been placed on the Council’s 
overall arrangements for financial management, which were detailed at 
Appendix 1 to the report which the Cabinet considered.  These included the 
rolling Medium Term Financial Strategy, the process for financial forecasts 
and developing medium term revenue and capital plans, the approach to 
financial risks and arrangements for in year monitoring of budgets.  Account 
has also been taken of the assessment of the Council’s external auditors as 
part of the annual audit opinion. The Chief Finance Officer confirmed that, in 
her opinion, the Council has robust procedures in place.

Alternatives considered:
None - it is a statutory requirement, under the Local Government Act 2003, to 
submit this report.  

Decision:
That Cabinet recommends to Council:-

1. The approach to General balances as detailed within the report be 
adopted.

2. That the General Balances for 2019/20 be set at £17million.

Reasons for the recommendation:
In order to comply with the Local Government Act 2003 the Chief Finance 
Officer is required to provide the Council with an opinion as to the robustness 
of the Budget being presented to its Budget setting meeting and to ensure the 
adequacy of general balances and reserves.

The Council is required to take account of this report when determining its 
budget.
Eligible for Call-in: No

REVENUE BUDGET, CAPITAL PROGRAMME AND COUNCIL TAX 
2019/20
108 The Cabinet considered a report of the Chief Finance Officer which 
proposed the Authority’s Revenue Budget, Capital Programme, and Council 
Tax 2019/20 for recommendation to the Budget Council meeting on 27th 

Page 9



February 2019. The information contained in the Chief Finance Officer’s report 
is subject to the Final Local Government Finance Settlement and approval of 
the Mayor of Greater Manchester’s precepts for 2019/20.

The report considers the key financial challenges and issues to be faced 
during the period 2019/20 to 2021/22 and also provides details of the 
assumptions and estimates underpinning the budget. The budget also takes 
into account the latest known developments both at regional and local levels 
and reported upon the integration of health and social care within the pooled 
budget arrangements.

Alternatives considered:
None - The Chief Finance Officer reported that the Council has a legal 
requirement to set a balanced budget, and throughout the budget exercise a 
robust process was in place to consider various alternative saving proposals 
and to recognise risks.

Resolved:
The Cabinet recommends that the Budget Council meeting, on 27th February 
2019: 

1. Consider and approves the proposed revenue budgets outlined 
in Appendix 1, based on a budget requirement of £216.223m for 
2019/20.  

2. Subject to confirmation of the Mayor of Greater Manchester’s 
precepts, considers and approves:
a) A Council Tax for district purposes of £1,582.14 for Band D 

properties (3.99% increase) for 2019/20.
b)  A Council Tax (including precepts) of £1,857.39 for Band D 

properties (5.31% increase), subject to confirmation of the 
Mayoral precepts for 2019/20.

3. Notes the position in relation to the Education Services Grant 
and Schools Funding; the Cabinet delegates the decision 
regarding any changes to the final allocations for the Dedicated 
Schools Grant to the Director of Children’s Services and the 
Chief Finance Officer in consultation with the Cabinet Members 
for Children’s Services and Finance. 

4. Notes the potential call on reserves of £3.5m, as detailed in 
paragraphs 5.2 and 5.3 of the submitted report.

5. Consider and note the progress of the Integration of Health and 
Social Care services as set out at paragraph 5.3 of the 
submitted report; in particular, the operation of the Pooled Fund 
budget for local authority and the Clinical Commissioning Group 
services and the associated risks to the Council should the 
savings proposals not be achieved.

6. Approval of a contribution to the Integrated Health and Social 
Care Pooled Fund budget of £87.159m.

7. Approve a proposed Capital Programmes for 2019/20 and 
2021/22 as detailed at Appendix 3 of the submitted report - 
noting that some of the assumed external funding, that has been 
included in the programme, is still subject to clarification from the 

Page 10



Government and in some cases may involve bids for funding; it 
was therefore recommended that all approvals be subject to 
confirmation of funding allocations.

8. Approve the proposed changes to the Capital Programme 
shown in in Table 12, of the submitted report, following 
consultation.

9. Approve that any new spending proposals requiring additional 
revenue and capital resources should only be considered during 
the financial year, in extreme circumstances as determined by 
the Budget and Policy Framework; these proposals would then 
need to be reported to the next available Council meeting in 
accordance with the Budget and Policy Framework.

10.Consider and approve the:
a)Pay Policy Statement, as provided at Appendix 4 of the 

submitted report.
b)Publication of the Authority’s Pay Policy Statement before 31st 

March 2019.

Reasons for the decisions:
The Cabinet is required to consider and recommend to Budget Council before 
the 11th March 2019: a balanced Revenue Budget for 2019/20 and provisional 
budgets for 2020/21 to 2021/22; and a Council Tax increase for 2019/20.
Eligible for Call-in: No

Page 11



Report to Cabinet

Date of Meeting 26th February 2019
Portfolio Cabinet Member for 

Children's Services
Report Author Fay Davies
Public/Private Document Public 

The Need for Extra Primary School Places 2019 - 2023

Executive Summary

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

The borough of Rochdale has continued to see large numbers of children 
applying for in-year primary school places. In the 2017-18 academic year a 
total of 2055 in-year applications were received and  970 new school places 
were applied for in-year (primary and secondary combined). For the 4 months 
from September to December the current academic year’s total of additional 
school in-year applications is 30.7% higher than the previous year. 

Birth rates from the latest Office of National statistics data available for 
Rochdale, for the 2016/17 academic year, shows that there were 3051 births 
in the borough. This nearly equals the previous record birth rate of 3069 which 
occurred in 2011/12. The 2011/12 children are now in year 2 and make up the 
largest school cohort with a total of 3075 year 2 pupils across the borough.

Recent house completion data, which was reported in the Rochdale Online 
(28/11/2018), showed the creation of new housing has doubled in the 2017/18 
financial year to 799 completions. The average rate of new house builds 2010 
– 2016 was 381 per year. The 5 year Strategic Housing Land Availability 
Assessment (April 2018) gives an average house build rate of over 850 per 
annum for the next 10 years and while this could be affected by economic 
conditions and forecasts, the additional forecasted children must be 
considered.

As a consequence of the three elements detailed above, extra capacity needs 
to be created in the Primary school estate in all areas of the borough and 
some capital spend is required to create classrooms for temporary bulge 
classes in operation and planned.

Recommendation

2.1 That Cabinet consider the information in this report and support the expansion 
of the Primary school estate with the understanding that further details will be 
brought before the relevant Township committees for consideration.

Page 12

Agenda Item 6



2.2

2.3

That Members consider the possibility of new Primary schools being needed, 
which will be required to be created using the Free School/Academy 
programme. Housing developer education contributions through the S106 
procedure are being sought from all suitable housing developments

That Members recommend the expenditure on bulge classes in Rochdale and 
Heywood Townships.

Reason for Recommendation

3.1

3.2

The council has a statutory duty to provide education and school places to all 
school aged children living in the borough and consequently has a duty to plan 
adequately for predicted pupil numbers.

Current housing development plans along with the housing allocations defined 
in the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework dictate that pupil numbers in 
Rochdale will continue to grow and plans must be put in place to create the 
needed school capacity.

Key Points for Consideration

4.1

4.2

1.3

4.4

Heywood

Primary schools in Heywood have been working close to capacity for several 
years. Five schools have been extended since 2013 with Woodland Primary 
going to 3 forms of entry from September 2018 and St Lukes CofE Primary 
going to 2 forms of entry in September 2019.

Currently there are no available spare places in year 2 in the Township and 
although the council receives few in-year applications for Heywood, the year 
2 year group falls into the statutory class size legislation limit of 30 children 
per class, and consequently this situation needs to be remedied.

Rising birth rates in Heywood mean that Reception numbers are due to rise 
and there will be insufficient capacity by 2020/21 and for 2021/22 (Appendix 
1 figure 1). However Nationally birth rates have started to decline and 
2017/18 birth rates from child health data in Heywood show a slight decrease 
in forecasted Reception intake numbers in 2022/23. The timing and duration 
of temporary and/or permanent builds need to be considered carefully.

On 22nd March 2018 the Rochdale Council Planning Licence Committee 
reported a hybrid planning application for the development of land close to 
Junction 19 of the M62 which includes up to 1000 new houses in south 
Heywood. This proposed housing development is not yet considered in the 
forecasts given in Appendix 1, figures 1 and 2, but does include a new 1 form 
of entry Primary school, which is needed in order to accommodate the 
predicted 250 additional primary aged pupils. Since in Rochdale there is a 
tendency for pupils moving into the borough in-year to be predominantly in 
the key stage 1 year groups, more than an additional 1 form of entry may be 
needed.

Page 13



4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

4.9

Current forecasts suggest two years of bulge classes are will be needed for 
2020/21 and 2021/22 but consideration of needing to expand one school by 
1 form of entry through all year groups should be investigated. Harwood Park 
Primary have been approached and have agreed to two years of bulge 
classes if sufficient classroom spaces can be created.

2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23
Extra 
Places 
Needed 9 spare Minimum of 5 places needed 

0 spare places so spare 
capacity needed 19 spare 

Plans St Lukes PAN 
30 to 60 
permanently

Harwood Park 2 classroom extension (PAN 60 to 90 for 2 
years)

Possible 
ways 
forward

(i) Investigate feasibility to extend a school in 
Heywood by 1 form of entry permanently (30 
pupils per year group)

(ii)  New 1 form of entry Primary school required in 
the long due to the new housing developments.

Middleton

Extra Primary school capacity has been created recently in 6 schools in 
Middleton. In 2016 Bowlee Park Primary expanded to 4 forms of entry and in 
September 2018 Boarshaw Primary expanded to a permanent 2 forms of 
entry.

Although extra spare capacity has been created for the high level of in-year 
and new start pupils, there are only 2 spare places in each of year 4 and year 
5 across the Township as of January 2019. There are also 5 classes with 
over 30 pupils in the year 5 cohort. Class sizes are not limited statutorily in 
this year group. The spare capacity created in key stage 1 year groups is 
also causing difficulties with the subsequent low levels of funding for some 
schools, where classes are not full.

Reception pupil numbers are due to level off because of the lowering of the 
birth rates in Middleton (Appendix 1, figure 3). However latest Office for 
National statistics birth data for intakes in 2021/22 show an increase in this 
year. Current forecast suggest there will 0 spare capacity in 2021/22 
(Appendix 1, figure 4 and table 3) and with current levels of inward migration 
this would mean not enough capacity.

Middleton currently has 3 sizeable housing developments under construction; 
two on the Langley estate and one in East Middleton. It has a further 3 
sizeable housing developments with planning permission and where 
construction of access roads has started; including Hollin Lane and Langley 
Lane and a further one in East Middleton. These together suggest an 
expected build of between 180 to 260 houses per annum which would yield 
between an additional 45 and 65 Primary aged pupils per year. House 
building rates will be considerably altered by economic conditions and so are 
estimates. 

Page 14



4.10

4.11

4.12

4.13

4.14

4.15

Nationally birth rates have started to decline but the most recent Middleton 
birth data shows a rise for 2021/22. This along with the large housing 
developments coming forward in North Middleton and South Heywood 
means that further expansions or a new Primary school could possibly be 
needed in the long term. 

Current forecasts suggest one year of bulge classes may be needed for 
2021/22 and but consideration of needing a new 1 form of entry Primary 
school in North Middleton school should be investigated in the long term 
depending on rates of additional children due to the new housing 
developments.

2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23
Extra 

Places 
Needed

55 spare 53 spare 0 spare places so spare 
capacity needed

38 spare places but more 
spare capacity may be needed

Plans/ 
Possible 

ways 
forward

(i) A bulge class will be required for 2021/22 and 
possibly for 2022/23 depending on migration 

(ii) New 1 form of entry Primary school may be required 
in the long term depending on new housing 
developments.

Pennines

For the purpose of Primary School place forecasts the Pennines Township 
has been split into North and South Pennines areas. North Pennines consists 
of the Littleborough Lakeside Ward and the Wardle and West Littleborough 
Ward. South Pennines consists of the Milnrow and Newhey Ward. 

The birth rate in the north Pennines area drops for the 2019/20 intake year 
group but rises again, and current forecasts show insufficient capacity for the 
2021/22 intake year (Appendix 1 figure 5 & 7). Pennines South (Appendix 1, 
figure 6 & 8) also shows a rise in birth rates for 2021/22 with insufficient 
places available. Historically in-year moves are low throughout the Pennines 
township but a considerable number of new housing is currently being built 
and planned in the north Pennines area, so current low rates of spare 
capacity in years above Reception needs to be kept under review.

Housing developments in the North Pennines, either under construction or 
with planning permission, currently show a new house build rate of up to 100 
additional houses per year. This will impact on migration into the area and 
could impact current in-year application rates. The current draft of the 
Greater Manchester spatial Framework also contains allocations in Pennines 
South.

Places may be needed for 2021/22 in both north and south Pennines and 
possibly for south Pennines in 2022/23. Extra classroom space was created 
in Littleborough Primary which may not yet be utilised, but this would not 
meet the forecasted need in the south of the area. Creation of additional 
places in the more central Pennines areas will be considered.

Page 15



4.16

4.17

4.18

4.19

2019-
20

2020-
21 2021-22 2022-23

Extra Places 
Needed

47 
spare

14 
spare

A minimum of 3 
additional places 59 spare

Pennines 
North

Plans/ 
Possible 
ways forward

(i) A bulge class will 
be required for 
2021/22

Extra Places 
Needed

11 
spare 3 spare

A minimum of18 
places needed. 

Minimum of 2 spare 
places needed

Pennines 
South

Plans/ 
Possible 
ways forward

(i) A bulge class will be required for 2021/22 
and  2022/23
(ii) Extension of Crossgates from 45 to 60 
PAN will be considered.
(iii) A new school in north Pennines may be 
required depending on size and timing of 
new housing developments.

Rochdale

Rochdale Township includes almost half of children educated in Rochdale 
Borough. For school place planning purposes this has been split up into four 
areas: Rochdale North East, North West, Central and South West.

Recently a bulge class was created in Greenbank Primary in 2017/18 for a 
peak in births in that year. Extra capacity was also created in Whittaker Moss 
Primary which went to 2 forms of entry in 2017/18. For the September 2018 
intake extra capacity was created at Lowerplace Primary (now 3 forms of 
entry) and Belfield Primary (now 2 forms of entry). Castleton Primary also 
accommodated an additional form of entry for both Reception and Year 1 
classes in the September 2017 intake, and created additional spaces to 
make their year 4 class also 2 forms of entry. Additional internal restructuring 
is required at Castleton Primary as the school agreed to accept more 
children in September 2018 to create bulge classes in Year 1 and Year2.  

The birth rate in the North-west & North-east combined area dropped for the 
2018/19 intake year group, but rises again to 2020/21, and current forecasts 
show insufficient capacity for one year (Appendix 1, figure 10). Consequently 
a bulge class will be needed to meet the forecast need for 1 year only in 
2020/21. 

The birth rate in the SW and Central Rochdale area has zigzagged for 
several years and forecasted pupil numbers follow this trend. Predictions 
show pupil numbers will be close to capacity for September 2019 and 
additional places will be needed for 2021/22 (Appendix 1, figure 13). 
Rochdale Central Reception classes are forecasted to have spare capacity 
for the next 4 years (appendix 1, figure 14 & table 8). In the Rochdale South-
west area however, a shortage of places is predicted from 2019/20 to 
2021/22 (Appendix 1, figure 15 & table 8). 

Page 16



4.20

4.21

4.22

4.23

4.24

4.25

The forecast shortage of places in the south-west area of Rochdale 
Township is predominantly due to the rise in births in the ward of Castleton. 
However new housing developments in both Castleton, and Balderstone and 
Kirkholt Wards combined are due to add an estimated 120 new houses each 
year for the next 5 years and will add an approximately additional 30 children 
per year to the primary school sector. Consequently a new permanent extra 
form of entry for Reception year children will be needed in the area of South-
west Rochdale for 2019/20.

With the additional new housing mentioned above and the allocation of 
further land for housing development mentioned in the Greater Manchester 
spatial Framework, a new school will possibly be needed in the area of 
South-west Rochdale Township in the medium term.

2019-20 2020-21 2021-22
2022-

23
Extra 
Places 
Needed

13 spare
 A minimum of 10 
extra places will be 
needed

27 spare 30 spare
North-
west and 
North 
East 
Rochdale 
Township

Plans/ 
Possible 
ways 
forward

(i) A bulge class will 
be required for 
2020/21

Extra 
Places 
Needed

9 places will 
be needed 
in Castleton 
ward

18 places will be 
needed in Castleton 
Ward

A minimum of 14 
extra place swill be 
needed, but up to 61 
may be needed in 
Castleton Ward

Central 
and 
south-
west 
Rochdale 
Township Plans/ 

Possible 
ways 
forward

(i) Castleton Primary school is currently undergoing internal 
restructuring to accommodate pupils taken in the 2017/18 year.
(ii) Extra capacity will be needed in Castleton Ward. Castleton 
Primary already has 3 bulge years and expansion of Castleton 
Primary to 2 form entry permanently will offer enough places to 
2021/22
(iii) A second bulge class could be needed for 2021/22 for 1 year
(iv) Additional housing developments along with allocations from the 
Greater Manchester spatial Framework means a new school will be 
needed in the area in the long term.

Further extra needed capacity will be sought and reported subsequently.

Housing build estimates are affected by economic conditions and could be 
materially different from those estimated here.

Alternatives Considered

In the last few years 30 of the 69 mainstream Primary Schools have taken 
bulge years or increased their PAN. The majority of these have had either 
internal restructuring or major building carried out. All extra classes are being 
discussed with Head teachers and Governing boards.

In Heywood, Middleton and South Rochdale primary schools are reaching 
the point where they cannot be expanded further and the possibility of the 

Page 17



council needing to open new schools must be considered. With the current 
government’s Academy/Free school programme new schools can only be 
opened as independently run Academy schools and must be provided under 
the centrally funded Wave programme or through the council funded 
Presumption route.

Costs and Budget Summary

5.1

5.2

5.3

The costs associated with co-ordinating admission arrangements are met from 
the Dedicated Schools Grant.  

A cost of approximately £500,000 for creation of classroom spaces for the  
bulge classes mentioned in paragraph 4.22 will be funded by the EFA annual 
allocations of Basic Need capital budget.

Where applicable, schools offering additional pupil places to meet the LA’s 
statutory need, may also be eligible for revenue funding from the  Council’s 
Growth Fund, which is approved by Schools Forum.

Risk and Policy Implications

The application of pupil place planning arrangements contributes to the 
Council Business Plan in ensuring an effective allocation process for school 
admissions.The council has a statutory duty to offer a school place to every 
child living in the borough and must manage the schools estate to meet the 
predicted need.  

For any new school needed the Council does not have under its direct 
control the legal mechanisms to create new schools and must, under the 
Academies Act 2010 and Education Act 2011, seek Department for 
Education approved academy trust providers to provide the schools

6.1

6.2

Consultation

7. Plans developed from this report for any permanent school extensions will be 
presented to the relevant Township Committees for consideration, before 
being reported to Cabinet. A formal consultation process will be conducted 
as defined by the government guidance on Prescribed Alterations to Schools.

Background Papers Place of Inspection

8. none

For Further Information Contact: Fay Davies
fay.davies@rochdale.gov.uk 

Page 18



Appendix 1: The Need for Extra Primary School Places 2019-2023

Heywood
Heywood reception pupil numbers are due to rise because of the rising birth rates in 
Heywood (figure 1).

Figure 1: Reception intake forecast to 2022/23

The predicted capacity in Reception class will be 5 places short of meeting the 
forecasted pupil numbers in 2020/21 and will have 0 spare places in 2021/22 (figure 
2 & table 1).

Figure 2: Predicted Reception Places and Expected Pupils for Heywood

2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23
Reception 
Places 475 475 475 475
Expected 
Pupils 466 480 475 456
Spare places 9 -5 0 19
Table 1: Predicted Reception Places and Expected Pupils Heywood

Page 19



The number of Reception class places currently available in Heywood schools in 
September 2018 is set out in the table 2:

School Place
s School Plac

es School Plac
es

Heap 
Bridge 25 St Joseph's 

RC 60 Hopwood 60

Our Lady & 
St Paul's 
RC

30 Harwood 
Park 60

St 
Michael's 
CE VA

30

St 
Margaret's 
CE VA

30 St Luke's CE 
VC 30

Woodland  90 All Souls CE 
VC 30

Table 2: Number of Reception places available Heywood

Middleton

Middleton reception pupil numbers are due to level off because of the lowering of the 
birth rates in Middleton (figure 3). However latest Office for National statistics birth 
data for intakes in 2021/22 show an increase in this year.

Figure 3: Reception Intake Forecast data to 2022/23

The predicted capacity in Reception class is forecasted to have 0 spare places in 
2021/22 (figure 4 & table 3).

Page 20



Figure 4: Reception Places and Expected Pupil numbers for Middleton
2019-
20

2020-
21

2021-
22

2022-
23

Reception 
Places 675 675 675 675
Expected 
Pupils 620 622 675 637
Spare Places 55 53 0 38
Table 3: Reception Places and expected Pupils Middleton

The number of Reception class places currently available in Middleton schools in 
September 2018 is set out in the table 4:

School Place
s School Pla

ces School Place
s

St John 
Fisher RC 30 Middleton 

Parish CE VA 60 St Peter's RC 30

Hollin 60 Parkfield 30 Alkrington 60

Boarshaw 60 Elm Wood 60 St Thomas 
More RC 45

Bowlee 
Park 120 Little Heaton CE 

VC 30 St Michael's 
CE VA 30

St Mary's 
RC 60 St Gabriel's CE 

VC 30

Table 4: Reception Places available Middleton

Pennines

The birth rate in the north Pennines area drops for the 2019/20 intake year group but 
rises again, and current forecasts show insufficient capacity for the 2021/22 intake 
year (figure 5). The most recent birth rate data for intake year 2022/23 is not official 
Office of National Statistics data but locally sourced data which tends to be less 
accurate. Pennines South (figure 6) also shows a rise in birth rates for 2021/22 with 
insufficient places available.

Page 21



Figure 5: Reception Intake forecast for Pennines North

Figure 6: Reception Intake Forecast for Pennines South

The predicted capacity in Pennines North Reception class is forecasted to have a 
shortage of 3 places in 2021/22 (figure 7 & table 5) and in Pennines South a 
shortage of places is predicted in 2021/22 and 2022/23 (figure 8 & table 5).

Figure 7: Places and Expected Pupils Pennines North

Page 22



Figure 8: Places and Expected Pupils Pennines South

2019-
20

2020-
21

2021-
22

2022-
23

Reception Places 305 290 290 290
Expected Pupils 258 276 293 231

Pennines 
North

Spare Places 47 14 -3 59
Reception Places 171 171 171 171
Expected Pupils 160 168 189 173

Pennines 
South

Spare Places 11 3 -18 -2
Table 5: Spare places in Pennines North and south

The number of Reception class places currently available in Pennines schools in 
September 2018 is set out in the following table:
School Places School Places School Places
Stansfield Hall 
CE VC 20 St Andrew's 

CE VC 60 Moorhouse 30

Littleborough 75 Smithy Bridge 60 Crossgates 45
Holy Trinity CE 
VA 30 Hamer 45 Milnrow Parish CE 

VA 30

St Mary's RC 30 Kentmere 
Academy 45 Newhey 45

St James' CE  F 30 Alice Ingham 
RC 24 St Thomas' CE VA 21

Table 6: Pennines Schools Places September 2018

Rochdale

Rochdale Township includes almost half of children educated in Rochdale Borough. 
For school place planning purposes this has been split up into four areas as shown 
in figure 9 below.

Historically Primary school planning was done at the Township level, and with high 
birth rates predominantly occurring in the central Rochdale zone, overall Township 
predictions for pupil places was sufficiently accurate. Now with a significant increase 
in birth rates in the south of the Township and increasing amounts of housing 

Page 23



development in the Balderstone and Kirkholt Ward and Castleton Ward, there is a 
need to do more focused projections. For ease of display, data is shown for two 
zones; North West and North East Rochdale combined and Central and South West 
Rochdale combined.

Figure 9: Rochdale Borough Primary Planning Areas

The birth rate in the NW & NE combined area dropped for the 2018/19 intake year 
group, but rises again to 2020/21, and current forecasts show insufficient capacity for 
that intake year (figure 10). Previously a bulge class was created in Greenbank 
Primary in 2017/18 for a predicted peak in births in that year. Extra capacity was also 
created in Whittaker Moss Primary which went to 2 forms of entry in 2017/18.

Page 24



Figure 10: Forecast for North East and North West areas of Rochdale 
Township.
The predicted combined capacity in Rochdale NW and NE Reception classes is 
forecasted to have spare capacity to 2020 (figure 10). However, as shown in figures 
11 and 12, the spare capacity will be primarily in the north east area of Rochdale 
Township with a shortage of places in Norden Ward. It should be noted however that 
there is normally a net movement of children into the Norden area to attend school 
from the Healey, Spotland and Falinge areas. 

Figure 11: spaces and Expected pupils in North-east Rochdale

Figure 12: Spaces and expected pupils North-west Rochdale

2019-
20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23

North Reception 429 429 429 429

Page 25



Places
Expected 
Pupils 398 429 418 416

East 
Rochdale 
Townshi
p Spare places 31 0 11 13

Reception 
Places 375 375 375 375

Expected 
Pupils 393 385 359 358

North 
West 
Rochdale 
Townshi
p Spare places -18 -10 16 17
Table 7: Spaces and Expected Pupils North East and North West Rochdale 
Township

The birth rate in the SW and Central Rochdale area has zigzagged for several years 
and forecasted pupil numbers follow this trend. Predictions show pupil numbers will 
be close to capacity for September 2019 and additional places will be needed for 
2021/22 (figure 13). For the September 2018 intake extra capacity was created at 
Lowerplace Primary (now 3 forms of entry) and Belfield Primary (now 2 forms of 
entry). Castleton Primary also accommodated an additional form of entry for both 
Reception and Year 1 classes in the September 2017 intake, and created additional 
spaces to make their year 4 class also 2 forms of entry.

Figure 13: Reception Forecast for Rochdale Central and South-West areas.

Rochdale Central Reception classes are forecasted to have spare capacity for the 
next 4 years (figure 14 & table 8). In Rochdale South-west area a shortage of places 
is predicted from 2019/20 to 2021/22 (figure 15 & table 11). 

Page 26



Figure 14: spaces and Expected pupils in the Central Rochdale area

Figure 15: Spaces and Expected pupils in the South-west Rochdale area
2019-
20

2020-
21

2021-
22

2022-
23

Reception 
Places 480 480 480 480
Expected Pupils 468 428 433 440

Central 
Rochdale 
Township

Spaces 12 52 47 40
Reception 
Places 304 304 304 304
Expected Pupils 313 322 365 286

South-
west 
Rochdale 
Township Spaces -9 -18 -61 18
Table 8: Spaces and Expected pupils Central and South-west Rochdale area

The number of Reception class places currently available in Rochdale Township 
schools in September 2018 is set out in the following table:
School Places School Places School Places
Healey F 30 Whittaker Moss 60 Marland Hill 60
Shawclough 60 St Vincent's RC 60 Brimrod 30
All Saints CE 
VA 30 Bamford 

Academy 45 Ashfield Valley 30

Greenbank 60 Belfield   60 St Mary's CE VC 30
St Patrick's 
RC 45 Sacred Heart 

RC 30 Sandbrook 90

Heybrook 90 Broadfield 60 Holy Family RC 30
Meanwood 60 St John's RC 30 St Edward's CE 

VC 52

Norden 60 Deeplish 60 Castleton 30

Page 27



Academy
Spotland 60 St Peter's CE 

VC 60 St Gabriel's RC  30

Caldershaw 30 Lowerplace 90 St John'sCE  
T'ham 12

Table 9: Places in Rochdale Township in September 2018

Page 28



Report to Cabinet

Date of Meeting 26th February 2019
Portfolio Cabinet Member for 

Children's Services
Report Author Fay Davies
Public/Private Document Public

Secondary School places 2019 and 2020 Intake

Executive Summary

1.1

1.2

1.3

Strategies for managing the predicted shortfall in year 7 places are outlined for 
the intake year of 2019 and 2020. The schools team is working to aid the DfE 
and any successful academy to open a new school in the borough for 
September 2021.

The schools team is still in discussions with schools about any additional 
places and the number of additional places will change from those presented 
here. In particular more places in Pennines schools are being sought due to 
the ongoing shortage of places for pupils living in the Pennines Township.

The government has made an announcement to say they will fund all special 
school applications that “meet the criteria”. Rochdale Council has submitted 
an expression of interest to have a new secondary special school specializing 
in Autism and Communications special needs.

Recommendation

2.1

2.2

That Cabinet consider the report and agree with the strategies to deal with the 
possible shortage of school places for year 7 intake in 2019 and 2020.

That Cabinet note the announcement about special schools made by the 
government and considers that a site will need to be named for the school. A 
report will be brought back to Cabinet with a recommendation for the  
nominated site in due course.

Reason for Recommendation

3.1 Since 2005 the number of pupils in schools has been rising steadily. Extra 
capacity has been created in both the Primary and Secondary school estates. 
11 of the 12 secondary schools in the borough have had building expansions 
or taken number over their Pupil Admission Number (PAN). Two schools are 
currently undergoing building works but have already raised their PAN to take 

Page 29

Agenda Item 7



3.2

extra children. No further secondary school expansions are in the pipeline and 
2 new schools are needed in the borough; one in the north Pennines and one 
in Middleton.

A shortage of places in year 7 is forecast for September 2019 and September 
2020 and the DfE have said that any new school given the go ahead will not 
be open until 2021 at the earliest. Strategies for dealing with any 
possibleshortage of places are in place for 2019 and in development for 2020.

Key Points for Consideration

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

The Borough has seen consistent growth in the school cohorts. In October 
2005 there were 2138 pupils in the year 7 cohort and this year are predicted to 
be 2916 pupils; which is a 36% increase.

Since 2012 Secondary schools in Rochdale have been expanded and/or taken 
more children creating another 330 places per year group, or a total of 1650 
additional school places. Building extensions are currently underway at 
Matthew Moss High School and Siddal Moor Sports College. This means 
there are currently 2880 year 7 places available in Rochdale schools with no 
further opportunities available for expansion.

Previous reports to Cabinet (31/10/2016) noted the need for 2 new secondary 
schools in the borough. This continues to be the case, with a shortage of 
school places now forecast for every year from September 2019.

Government legislation currently dictates new schools must be delivered 
either by the centrally funded Wave process or through the council funded 
Presumption process. Due to the change of government in 2017, there was a 
delay of more than 18 months in the central government’s new Free school 
programme. Wave 13 of the governments centrally funded new school bidding 
round closed on the 5th November 2018. Four bids were submitted from 
academy trusts to open new secondary schools in Rochdale. Three of the bids 
were for a new school in Middleton and the fourth was for a new school in 
north Pennines. Notification of success of any of the bids is not due until 
Spring 2019. The government has said that the number of new schools funded 
centrally will be limited.

Any successful bid to open a new school in Rochdale is required to go through 
full planning procedure and it is considered would take a minimum of 30 
months to deliver. The council has named two suitable sites (in North 
Pennines and Middleton) and has Cabinet agreement to lease the named 
sites to the successful academy trusts (Cabinet 30/10/2018). In this respect 
the council has done everything it can to shorten the delivery time of any new 
school.

In summary the council is in the position that the projected pupil numbers now 
exceed place capacity for the September 2019 and September 2020 intake, 
with the consideration that a new school will be open for September 2021. 
Contingency plans have been discussed with the borough’s existing schools 
and the DfE have been notified of the situation.

Page 30



4.7

4.8

4.9

4.10

4.11

4.12

Strategies for September 2019
 Borough’s schools have been asked to increased PAN by 5 places 

each – additional places are now agreed
 If over 120 places are needed then a bulge class in modular 

accommodation will be created – not now needed

Strategies for September 2020
Current forecasts suggest there will be a shortage of between 78 and 132 
places across the borough in September 2020.

 If less than 10 additional places per school are needed, the council will 
again ask all schools to increase their PANs by 10.

 If over 120 places are needed then a bulge class in modular 
accommodation will be created

 If over 180 places are needed then the council will negotiate the early 
opening of the new school with the DfE and the relevant academy.

The deadline for year 7 applications has closed but the school admissions 
team continue to process late applications up to the start of the new school 
year.. 

A summary of applications is given in table 1; however it is important to 
understand the context of the numbers. Rochdale borough has a high 
commuting school population with large numbers of children, either living in 
borough and commuting out for school, or living out of borough and 
commuting into borough. It is the net number of these two elements that will 
determine if Rochdale has sufficient places. 

Table 1: On time Secondary school applications 2018 and 2019
Pupil Numbers

Available School Places – PAN 2019 2880
1st Preferences applications in Rochdale Mainstream - 
2019

2755

1st Preference applications in Rochdale Mainstream - 2018 2740
2018 Total offers made on offer day 2774
2018 Children nominated a place 131

2018 Children nominated a place more than 3 miles 37
2018 Secondary Preference Demand Met 88.3%

For September 2018 there were 2850 PAN places on offer, the forecast 
showed 2813 pupils needing places, there were 2740 first preference 
applications and 2747 pupils were on roll by October census day.

For September 2019 there are 2880 PAN places on offer, the forecast shows 
2916 pupils needing places and there are 2755 first preference applications to 
in borough schools. Consequently from current applications approximately 90 
children more have opted for out of borough first preferences and our ability to 
successfully place all children is dependent on how many pupils take up 
places out of borough. Oldham had two new academy schools open in 2018 
and does have sufficient places for its own pupils, Bury has not created any 
new capacity recently but historically has had approximately 5% more places 

Page 31



4.13

4.14

4.15

4.16

than children due to the number of faith schools.

With current extra capacity being offered in existing schools there is sufficient 
capacity projected for September 2019. 

The government announced the opening of a new bidding round for 
approximately 30 centrally funded new alternative provision and special 
schools on the 24th July 2018. Local authorities were asked to put cases 
together to submit as expressions of interest for the government to then 
allocate. Rochdale Council had submitted a bid to a previous bidding round 
which had been unsuccessful. That bid had been developed with consultation 
with stakeholders and community groups. The current SEND strategy and 
separate Autism strategy, which has also been developed through stakeholder 
engagement, also states the Councils need for additional school capacity for 
Autistic children in the borough.

The government special school bidding round closed on the 15th October 
2018. The listing of authorities that have applied can be found on the 
government website and on the 16th December 2018 the Education Secretary 
announced he will “approve all high quality bids in the current round of special 
and alternative provision free schools applications”. Rochdale is still awaiting 
formal notification on its application and needs to name a specific site.

Alternatives Considered

Children’s services is working to meet the statutory requirement to offer all 
pupils living in the borough a school place and will continue to discuss options 
with borough schools.

Costs and Budget Summary

5.1

5.2

5.3

5.4

The costs associated with co-ordinating admission arrangements are met from 
the Dedicated Schools Grant.  

If one or more modular units are needed to create bulge classes a cost of 
approximately £500k will be needed. This will be provided through the school 
capital Basic Need budget.

Agreement for costs associated with any new special school will be sought if 
and when a formal notification is received by the council.

Where applicable, schools offering additional pupil places to meet the LA’s 
statutory need, may also be eligible for revenue funding from the  Council’s 
Growth Fund, which is approved by Schools Forum.

Risk and Policy Implications

Page 32



The application of pupil place planning arrangements contributes to the 
Council Business Plan in ensuring an effective allocation process for school 
admissions. The council has a statutory duty to offer a school place to every 
child living in the borough and must manage the schools estate to meet the 
predicted need.  

6.

Consultation

7. The strategies for manage the additional pupils forecasted may require 
temporary planning permission which will follow the required procedures.

Background Papers Place of Inspection

8. none

For Further Information Contact: Fay Davies 
fay.davies@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 33



Report to Cabinet

Date of Meeting 26th February 2019
Portfolio Cabinet Member for 

Environment
Report Author Chris Woods
Public/Private Document Public

Fees for Residents Parking Permits

Executive Summary

1. The Highways Service potentially have to process up to 2,170 residents parking zone 
permits over each 2 year period, the proposed introduction of charges would allow 
the Highways Service to generate income from the processing of the permits which 
would off-set salary costs for undertaking the processing.

Recommendation

2. Members are asked to consider the proposal to introduce fees for resident parking 
permits following public consultation as part of the Savings Programme 2019/20 – 
2020/21.

Reason for Recommendation

3. To support the Council’s requirement to deliver a balanced budget for 2019/20 – 
2020/21

Key Points for Consideration

4. Overview of the proposal

The objective of a Parking Permit Scheme is to provide car owning residents with a 
reasonable chance of being able to park near to, but not necessarily directly outside, 
their homes. On many streets some residents own more than one car which places a 
severe strain on parking availability and generates complaints from other residents.
There are currently 8 Resident Only Permit parking schemes in operation as per the 
following table;

Page 34

Agenda Item 8



Residential Scheme Township Number of 
Properties

Renewal 
Date

Hollingworth Lake Pennines 286 Jan-20
Heap Bridge Heywood 85 Jun-20
Railway Station Rochdale 54 Aug-20
Church Stile Rochdale 55 Oct-20
Latrigg Crescent Middleton 389 May-19
Millfold Road Middleton 89 Jun-19
Beech St/Burton St Middleton 73 Jul-19
Marlor Court Heywood 54 May-20

As part of the current Resident Parking Policy each property is eligible to apply for 1 
resident permit and 1 visitor permit, businesses within the zone are eligible to apply 
for 2 business permits, which are currently free of charge and are valid for 2 years.

This means that the Highways Service potentially have to process up to 2,170 
permits over the full renewal period, the cost of undertaking this is currently paid for 
using the Council’s revenue budget.

The reasons why a residents parking scheme would be introduced are summarised 
below;

 Highways and elected Members receive complaints from residents that they 
do not have a fair chance of parking on the street they live

 Subject to funding from Township, Highways undertake assessments against 
the criteria in the current policy and carry out public consultation on whether 
the scheme is wanted by the majority of residents

 Should the scheme have enough support then the residents parking scheme 
is implemented.

Overall Impact of the proposed change

It has been requested to consider an option for the following;
 1st permit to be issued at a cost of £25.00 
 Each permit will be valid for two years
 Each household could then apply for one further permit free of charge 
 Townships would still have to fund the consultation and Traffic Regulation 

Order process.
 It is proposed that schemes that only operate for one day per week will be 

exempt from the charge.

Impact on affected service 

Introduction of this charge would allow Highways to recover costs for administering 
the residents parking scheme. There is no legal right to park on the highway and 
residents parking schemes should be viewed as a privilege as it reserves the street 
space to residents.

Page 35



If Townships wanted to alter any of the existing schemes they would have to fund an 
amendment to the Traffic Regulation Order for the particular scheme.

Savings total

This proposal is expected to generate approximately £13,400 every two years based 
on an average of 95% of eligible residents applying for the 1st at £25.00

4.1 Alternatives Considered

Members could decide not to take the proposal forward and identify alternative 
savings proposals.

Public consultation was undertaken for residents to apply for up to 4 parking permits 
per household, consultation responses have been summarised in paragraph 7.1

In summary, a large proportion of responses were in objection to allowing more cars 
within a parking zone as this would negate the reasons for implementing such a 
scheme in the first place.

The costs of introducing the above scheme also meant that a saving would be 
difficult to achieve.

Costs and Budget Summary

5. Table 1 provides details of the proposal to introduce fees for all resident 
parking permits:-
Table 1

Savings 2019/20
 £k

Savings 2020/21
 £k

Total savings 
£k

On-
going

One off On-
going

One off On-
going

One off

Employees
Other Costs
Income lost 
(show as a 
minus)
Net savings
Additional 
income 
generated 
(show as a 
positive figure)

£13.4k 
every 2 
years

£13.4k 
every 2 
years

Total savings £13.4k 
every 2 
years

£13.4k 
every 2 
years

Implementation 
costs
Total savings 
less 
implementation 
costs

Page 36



Risk and Policy Implications

Risk Implications

None

Policy Implications

The current Residents Parking Policy would be amended to reflect the 
savings proposals by updating it with the proposed charges.

6.1

6.2

6.3

6.4

Legal Implications

There are no legal implications arising from this report. 

Equalities Impact

An Equality Impact Assessment screening opinion is provided in the 
appendices.

6.

Consultation

7. The proposal has been consulted as part of the wider Council savings consultation.

The Council must ensure that it remains open minded throughout the consultation 
period to all alternative proposals and expressions of interest.

Outcome of Consultation

In total 176 responses were received to the savings consultation and can be broken 
down as follows;

131 – Either Disagree or Strongly Disagree
5 – Neutral
40 – Agree or Strongly Agree

In summary there are 5 responses in the Agree or Strongly Agree count that 
suggest the user has misunderstood and actually disagree with the proposal, this 
would revise the numbers as follows;

136 – Either Disagree or Strongly Disagree
5 – Neutral
35 – Agree or Strongly Agree

116 responses were received via the Council’s online consultation website and 60 
direct letters or emails were received.

In summary, a large proportion of responses were in objection to allowing more cars 
within a parking zone as this would negate the reasons for implementing such a 
scheme in the first place.

Page 37



Background Papers Place of Inspection

8. Current Residents Parking Policy Appended to this report

For Further Information Contact: Chris Woods, Tel: 01706924615, 
chris.woods@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 38



 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Residents Parking Policy 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 39



1. PURPOSE OF THE POLICY 
 

1.1  To allow officers to deal with requests made for Residents Permit 
Parking Schemes in a fair and consistent manner.  

1.2 To give residents and elected Members clear guidance on the 
criteria for considering Residents Permit Parking Schemes. 

 

2. APPROVALS 
 

2.1 Cabinet approved this policy at a meeting on the 28th January 2013.  
2.2 Elected Members of Township Committees were consulted and 

comments provided at meetings held the week commencing 5th 

November 2012. 
  

MAIN TEXT INCLUDING ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED/ CONSULTATION 
CARRIED OUT 
 

Objectives 
 

3.1 The objective of a Parking Permit Scheme is to provide car owning 
residents with a reasonable chance of being able to park near to, 

but not necessarily directly outside, their homes. On many streets 
some residents own more than one car which places a severe strain 
on parking availability and generates complaints from other 

residents. Schemes should generally be considered on an area wide 
basis so that they do not result in the initial problem being 

transferred onto the adjacent highway network or into adjacent 
residential areas. 

 

Introduction 
 

3.2 The introduction of a “Residents Only Permit Holder Parking 
Scheme” is a way of controlling vehicles in a defined area of 
Highway, to the benefit of the residents. 

3.3 There are many reasons why a Residents Parking Permit Scheme 
may be sought, one of the main reasons being vehicles not native 

to the local road network parking for pro-longed periods in a 
predominantly built-up area. 

3.4 The existing policy has caused extended discussion at Township 

with Members asking for the policy to be revised. 
 

Background 
 

3.5 The existing policy had been asked to be reviewed by Pennine 

Township and also Middleton Township in the minutes of Middleton 
Township Committee meeting on 8th March 2012. 

“DECIDED – that the Cabinet be requested to review the policy on 
Residents Privileged Parking Scheme, specifically relating to the 
percentage levels of support required to progress a scheme” 

3.6 Middleton Township requested that the percentage of support 
required to implement the scheme is lower than 75% and that if a 

Page 40



vote is not returned during the consultation then it is removed from 
the count. 

3.7 Members from other Townships have requested changes to the 
existing policy such as approving schemes with less than 50 

households in them. 
3.8 The power to implement a Residents Permit scheme lies with the 

Highway Authority under the Road Traffic Regulations Act 1984. 

 
The Highway Code 

3.9 Section 243 of The Highway Code states: 
‘DO NOT stop or park ‘opposite or within 10 metres (32 feet) of a 
junction, except in an authorised parking space’. 

3.10 Section 245 of The Highway Code states: 
Controlled Parking Zones. The zone entry signs indicate the times 

when the waiting restrictions within the zone are in force. Parking 
may be allowed in some places at other times. Otherwise parking 
will be within separately signed and marked bays.  

3.11 A Residents Parking Permit Scheme is a form of Controlled Parking 
Zone. 

There are two types of Residents Parking Schemes; 
3.12.1A zone is where signs are placed at the entrance(s) to the scheme 

area and parking is permitted within any safe place on the 
carriageway if the owner of the vehicle is displaying a valid 
Residents Parking Permit displayed. 

3.12.2A fully regulated scheme is where all parts of the carriageway 
within the scheme have lines and signs marked out indicating 

where to park providing the owner of the vehicle is displaying a 
valid Residents Parking Permit. 

 

Criteria 
 

3.13 On the basis of the information set out above the proposed 
amended criteria for a Permit Scheme to be as follows; 
 Feasibility - “No Waiting at Anytime” advertised at junctions 

to ensure the Highway Code is followed for the safe passage 
of all highway users. 

 Feasibility – The number of properties required in each 
scheme will depend on individual circumstances, however, 
fifty properties is the recommended minimum to ensure 

success of the scheme and to minimise the impact on the 
surrounding areas (See Explanatory Notes).  

 Survey - Extent of problem is identified using a BEAT survey 
(see Explanatory Notes). 

 Survey - 75% of the kerb side space is un-available for more 

than 3 hours per day (BEAT Survey will determine this). 
 Leaflet Consultation - Minimum of 65% support for a scheme 

following consultation (see Explanatory Notes) 
 Condition - Maximum of two permits per household and two 

business permits per registered business within the zone (see 

Explanatory Notes). 

Page 41



 Condition - There will be no charge for permits however there 
will be a charge of £25 to replace a lost, stolen or damaged 

permit.  
 Condition - Where a household has a registered carer they 

will be expected to use the visitor pass when the carer is 
present at the household. 

A scheme will not be selected if; 

 Feasibility – If the proposal includes roads on the Strategic 
Highway Network, which will be dealt with by the introduction 

of other types of Traffic Regulation Order. 
 Survey - 75% of households have off street parking for 2 or 

more vehicles (BEAT Survey will determine this). 

 Survey – Where the road fails to achieve the following 
standards; 

o A two way non strategic road where the road width is less 
than 6.7m 

o A one way road where the road is less than 5.5m in width. 

 
Process 

 
3.14 A residents parking scheme will be considered only after all other 

alternatives of parking restraint have been investigated and shown 
to be impractical. An investigation will be conducted following 
complaints from the local community, Councillors or a planning 

application, subject to committee approval. It is anticipated that 
complaints will arise where there is a competing demand for 

parking from outside the local community i.e. adjacent to an office 
or industrial development, shopping area or hospital. 

  

3.15 Stage 1 - Survey 
 Approval of funds for officer time to be spent undertaking a 

BEAT survey and compiling a report. The report will identify if 
there is a quantifiable problem and if that problem could be 
solved by other waiting restrictions in the first instance, if the 

recommendation is to implement a Residents Permit Parking 
Scheme then the type of regulation will also be 

recommended, whether it is a Zone or regulated bays and 
the proposed zones for implementation with reasons for 
rationale. Approximate timescale 4-6weeks from receiving 

funding. 
 Report will either determine that a Permit Scheme will or not 

solve the problems and the extent of the permit scheme that 
would be required. 

3.16 Stage 2 – Consultation with residents 

 Once approved by Township a consultation leaflet will be sent 
to all affected households in the proposed zone within four 

weeks. 
 The leaflet will ask for a response within 28 days from each 

household either Yes or No to the proposed Permit Scheme 

zone. There will be specific details on the consultation leaflet 
the information will be as follows; 

Page 42



o A question asking the preferred option for the time of 
operation of the proposed scheme. 

o Where “No Waiting at Any Time” restrictions will be 
implemented (via a plan) 

o A property which does not submit a consultation leaflet 
back to the Highways Service will not be included in 
the counting process. 

o A paid return envelope 
The leaflet will explain; 

o That there will be an annual charge for administering 
the scheme. 

o Reason(s) for implementation 

o The proposed boundaries of the scheme (via a plan) 
o The criteria for implementation and next steps. 

Photocopies will not be accepted. Representations by e-mail can be 
made and must include the following information. 

o Full Name 

o Address 
o Scheme operational time choice as per the leaflet 

o Yes or No to the proposal to implement Residents 
Permit Parking Scheme as described in the 

consultation leaflet. 
 After 28 days has elapsed the leaflets will be collated and a 

percentage of support for or against the proposal calculated; 

if this number does not reach the required 65% of those who 
reply a report will be sent to Township with the 

recommendation not to implement the scheme, a decision 
made against officer recommendation will mean the matter is 
referred to Cabinet or Policy Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee for final decision. 
 

3.17 Stage 3 – Statutory Consultation 
 If the required percentage of support is obtained then a 

report will be sent to Township with the recommendation to 

implement the scheme as consulted and a request for further 
funding to legally advertise the scheme following the 

Statutory Process for Implementing Traffic Regulation Orders 
as described in the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984. 
Timescale for statutory consultation is 28 days upon 

receiving the draft Legal Orders from Legal Services. 
3.18 At this point it should be noted that households who responded with 

a “No” and households that did not reply at all during the 
consultation period will have an opportunity to object to the 
implementation of the Traffic Regulation Order and Members will 

have decide at Township Committee whether to uphold the 
objections or reject them in favour of implementation of the 

scheme. This will be presented at the nearest available Township 
meeting. 

 

o Once the report has been approved by Township and authorisation 
to seal the order is obtained the scheme will be brought into 

operation. 

Page 43



 
o The process of introducing a residents parking scheme could take 

between 6-12months depending on the level of support for the 
scheme overall. 

 
3.19  Criteria post implementation 

 Applicants should park their vehicles legally elsewhere 

pending receipt of a permit. Until the correct documentation 
has been received and checked, we cannot confirm that an 

applicant is eligible for a permit. 
 We do not accept responsibility for loss. 
 We aim to process applications within 5 working days of 

receiving the correct documentation.  
 Motorists who fail to comply with the parking restrictions may 

be issued with a Penalty Charge Notice (PCN). 
 To dispute a PCN please refer to the Parking Enforcement 

Policy. 

 
Alternatives considered 

 
3.20 Not to provide a Residents Permit Parking Scheme as there is no 

statutory requirement to provide one. The Council could as a matter 
of policy choose not to promote such schemes and rely on other 
ways of managing on-street parking. 

3.21 Continue with the existing policy. 
3.22 An alternative to the introduction of a Residents Parking Permit 

Scheme would be to introduce parking restrictions i.e. yellow lines, 
to prevent the problems caused by the parking of vehicles by 
motorists from outside the local community. This option would also 

prevent parking by local residents at different times of the day 
depending on the restriction used. 

3.23 Setting a minimum number of properties to be within a residents 
parking zone. 

3.24 Not to charge for the permits, will result in unrecoverable costs for 

the Council. 
 

Consultation proposed/undertaken 
 
3.25 The Portfolio Holder for Highways has been consulted. 

3.26 Township Committees have been consulted. 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

Page 44



Appendix A 
 

Explanatory Notes; 
 

1. Each request for residents only parking will be judged on its individual 
circumstances and a recommendation made. 

 

2. A BEAT Survey is completed by making a note of all the registration 
marks of vehicles within a specified area to determine which streets 

are affected by cars parked that are not part of the local traffic, 
typically a commuter who parks on a street travels to work and returns 
to their vehicle in the evening period and leaves. The survey is 

important because it identifies the need and any potential problems 
that a Residents Parking Permit Scheme may cause. It is also 

important because it provides the Council with robust justification for 
removing the highway rights of all other road users and provides a 
privilege to residents only. 

 
3. The scheme shall be supported by a minimum of 65% of households, if 

a vote is not returned it will be removed from the count.  
 

4. The Township requesting the resident parking scheme will fund the 
initial investigation and any subsequent implementation costs including 
the first set of permits.  

 
5. A maximum of two permits per household will be allocated, this is to 

ensure that the Residents Permit Parking Zone is most effective at 
removing vehicles from the highway (the problem which led to the 
scheme being investigated in the first instance). Businesses registered 

within the Residents Permit Parking zone can apply for a maximum of 
two permits; this information will be included in the consultation 

leaflet. The householder will have to apply and pay £25.00 to replace a 
lost, stolen or damaged permit. 

 

Page 45



Document is Restricted

Page 46

Agenda Item 10
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 53

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 58

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 59

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 62

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 64

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 67

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 68

Agenda Item 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 76

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	5 Minutes
	6 The Need for Extra Primary School Places 2019 - 2023
	Append. 1 for The Need for Extra Primary School Places 2019 - 2023

	7 Secondary School places 2019 and 2020 Intake
	8 Introduction of Fees for Residents Parking Permits
	Append. 1 for Introduction of Fees for Residents Parking Permits

	10 Charge a number of schools for the School Crossing Patrol Service
	EIA
	Location Priority Score Calculator
	Explanation Locaton Priority Score Calculator
	Legal Advice
	RAG Rating
	Consultation Log

	11 Street Lighting Energy Contract
	Energy Options Appraisal - Final 26-2-19


